
 
City of Apopka 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Agenda 

July 10, 2018 
5:30 PM @ City Council Chambers 

 
I.     CALL TO ORDER 
 
If you wish to appear before the Planning Commission, please submit a “Notice of Intent to Speak” card to the 
Recording Secretary. 
 
II.    OPENING AND INVOCATION 
 
III.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
1 Approve minutes of the Planning Commission regular meeting held June 26, 2018. 

 
IV.    PUBLIC HEARING: 
 

1. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT – AMENDMENT - ORANGE BLOSSOM APOPKA RV RESORT 
– Property owned by Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort, Inc., c/o Robert Vesely, and located at 
3800 W. Orange Blossom Trail. (Parcel ID #: 36-20-27-0000-00-020) 

 

V.     SITE PLANS: 
 

1. PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN – FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE – Property owned 
by Farish Enterprises, LLC, and located at 1616 East Semoran Boulevard. (Parcel ID # 11-21-28-
5600-03-000)  

2. FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, INC., PHASE 1 – Property 
owned by Center of Faith Church, Inc. and located at 700 Vick Road.  (Parcel ID #: 04-21-28-0000-
00-027) 

3. PLAT – SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE – Property owned by A.D Raulerson, Sr. & A.D. Raulerson, 
Jr.; and Curtis & Karen Pumphrey and located north of Lester Road and west of Rock Springs 
Road. (Parcel ID #s: 28-20-28-0000-00-084; 28-20-28-0000-00-040; 28-20-28-0000-00-077) 

VI.    OLD BUSINESS: 
 
VII.   NEW BUSINESS: 
 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT: 
 
************************************************************************************************************* 
All interested parties may appear and be heard with respect to this agenda.  Please be advised that, under state law, if you decide to appeal any 
decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, you will need a record of the proceedings, 
and that, for such purpose, you may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes a testimony and 
evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.   The City of Apopka does not provide a verbatim record.    
 
In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), persons with disabilities needing a special accommodation to participate in any of 
these proceedings should contact the City Clerk's Office at 120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL  32703, telephone (407) 703-1704, no less than 48 
hours prior to the proceeding. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 
26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. IN THE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, APOPKA, FLORIDA. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch 
Stanley 
 
ABSENT: Patrice Phillips; Roger Simpson; Orange County Public Schools (Non-voting) 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  James Hitt, FRA-RA – Community Development Director, David Moon, AICP 
- Planning Manager, Richard Earp – City Engineer, Jacob Schumer – City Attorney, Bobby Howell - 
Senior Planner, Pamela Richmond – Senior Planner, Jean Sanchez – Planner II, Phil Martinez – 
Planner I, and Jeanne Green – Recording Secretary.  
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  There were approximately 60 attendees in the audience. (The sign-in sheets 
are made a part of the record.) 
 
OPENING AND INVOCATION:  Chairperson Greene called the meeting to order and asked for a 
moment of silent prayer.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Chairperson Greene asked if there were any corrections or additions 
to the regular meeting minutes of June 12, 2018, at 5:30 p.m.   
 
Motion: Jose Molina made a motion to approve the Planning Commission minutes from 

the regular meeting held on June 12, 2018, at 5:30 p.m. and seconded by Linda 
Laurendeau. Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Jose 
Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch Stanley (5-0).  

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – CHANGE OF ZONING/MASTER PLAN – LEGACY HILLS – 
Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to request to find the proposed rezoning consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; recommend approval of the rezoning of the 
subject parcel from R-1A (Residential Single Family District) to PUD (Planned Unit Development);  
and recommend approval of the PUD Master Plan based on the PUD Recommendations, and the 
findings and facts presented in the staff report for the property owned by JEL Land Development 
LLC and located at 2400 Schopke Road. 
     
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No 
one spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Phil Martinez, Planner I, stated this is a request to find the proposed rezoning 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; recommend approval of the 
rezoning of the subject parcel from R-1A (Residential Single Family District) to PUD (Planned Unit 
Development); and recommend approval of the PUD Master Plan based on the PUD 
Recommendations, and the findings and facts presented in the staff report for the property owned by 
JEL Land Development LLC.  He stated the location listed in the staff report is incorrect and the 
actual location of the property is 2400 Schopke Road.  The applicant is Appian Engineering, LLC, 
c/o Luke M. Classon, P.E.  The land use is Low Density Residential and Mixed-Use; and the zoning 
is PUD (Planned Unit Development).  The current use is vacant land and the proposed use is a 177 
single-family home subdivision.  The total tract size is 114.288 +/- acres with a developable area of 
79.46 +/- acres. 
 
On April 4, 2018 the City Council approved a PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan for the 
Lake Marshall subdivision, which details the development of 301 single family residential lots in two 
phases. The subject property is located south of Marshall Lake and west of SR 451. The surrounding 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

2 of 17 

 

properties consist primarily of single-family residential, and agricultural uses. The developer has 
submitted a Final Development Plan and Plat for phase 1 of the Lake Marshall subdivision, now named 
Lakeside.  
 
The applicant is requesting approval of the Plat for Phase 1 of Lakeside. The Lakeside Phase 1 plat is for 
177 single-family residential lots. All internal roadways are proposed as privately owned and maintained, 
and the subdivision will be gated. The plat for Phase 2 will be submitted in the future. Consistent with the 
approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, lot widths of 60-feet and 75-feet are provided 
on the Phase 1 plat. A minimum living area of 1,700 square feet is provided for all units located within 
Phase 1.  
 
The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 
 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 
Front 25’ 
Side 5’ 
Rear 20’ 
Corner 15’ 

 
Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via Johns Road. Adjacent to the west of the 
subject property is the Breckenridge subdivision. A gated access for emergency vehicles will be 
provided between the two subdivisions. This access point will only be for emergency vehicles. In 
response to the Breckenridge homeowners association, pedestrian access will not be permitted 
between the two subdivisions. 
 
There are three (3) retention ponds designed to meet the City’s Land Development Code 
requirements. 
 
The recreation package will consist of a cabana with restrooms, a swimming pool, a playground, and 
a mixed-use active field at a minimum. In addition the developer is dedicating a tract in Phase 1 
adjacent to Marshall Lake as a Community Lake Park that will have a community dock, and a 1.03 
acre open space tract across the street from this park. In the Phase 2 area, two tracts will be dedicated 
as a park/open space area, and a 15.12 acre Conservation area will also be dedicated. 
 
Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, landscaping is provided 
at the subdivision entrance on Johns Road, and a 5-foot landscape buffer is provided along the rear of lots 
1-24. An existing 50-foot landscape buffer occurs along the western and northern project line within 
the Breckenridge plat. This buffer is noted as a tract on the Breckenridge plat. The Lake Marshall 
development will not be visible from the homes within Breckenridge.  
 
The following is a summary of the tree replacement program for this project: 
 
Total inches on-site:      13,947 
Total number of specimen trees: 100 
Total inches removed:  12,776 
Total inches retained: 361 
Total inches replaced:  3,701 
Total Inches (Post Development): 4,311 

 
The developer has obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement with Orange County Public 
Schools to address school impacts generated by this residential development. The schools zoned to 
receive students from this community are the following: Apopka Elementary School, Wolf Lake Middle 
School and Apopka High School.  
 
The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and plat for this property through the DRC 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

3 of 17 

 

agenda distribution.  
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Lakeside, Phase 1 Plat subject to the 
final review by the City surveyor and city engineer prior to recording the plat. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission recommend find the proposed rezoning consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; recommend approval of the rezoning of the 
subject parcel from R-1A (Residential Single Family District) to PUD (Planned Unit Development);  
and recommend approval of the PUD Master Plan based on the PUD Recommendations; the 
Conditions of Approval; the findings and facts presented in the staff report; and subject to the 
Conditions of Approval and final review by the City surveyor and city engineer prior to recording the plat 
for the property owned by JEL Land Development LLC and located on the east side of Rogers Road, 
approximately one half mile north of the intersection of Rogers Road and Lester Road.  
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 
approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code.     
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
In response to questions by Mr. Sprinkle, Mr. Moon stated the applicant has the option of installing 
either a masonry wall or another decorative type of wall.  Their use of composite walls meet the 
intent of the buffer wall requirements.  None of the adjacent subdivisions have 60 foot wide lots as is 
being proposed for this project.   
 
James Hitt, FRA-RA, Community Development Director, stated the Planned Unit Development 
allows for flexibility in the design requirements for issues such as walls and lot sizes.  He stated that 
the City was in the process of re-writing the Land Development Code and a portion of the re-write 
will be to clarify the Planned Unit Development requirements.  He added that the City Attorney will 
be reviewing the revised Land Development Code. 
Petitioner Presentation:   Thomas Sullivan, Gray Robinson, 301 East Pine Street, Suite 1400, 

Orlando, reviewed the proposed project.  He stated the 60 foot wide lots will be on the interior of the 

subdivision with larger lots will be along the perimeter.  By allowing the smaller lots they are able to 

provide more open space and larger minimum living areas. 

In response to a question by Mr. Molina, Mr. Sullivan stated they did not deviate from the code 

requirements for emergency access.   

Mr. Moon added that the two-car garages will be setback leaving enough space in the driveway for 

two more vehicles. 

Mr. Sullivan said the Final Development Plan for the project will be presented to the Planning 

Commission. 

Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.   

In response to questions by Mike Simpson, 1600 Schopke Road, Mr. Hitt stated this is a single family 

home subdivision. 

In response to a question by Chairperson Greene, Mr. Sullivan stated that regardless of the lot size, 

the minimum living area will be 1,700 sq. ft. 

Mr. Moon stated that the R-1AA zoning minimum living area is 1,600 sq. ft. 

In response to a question by Mr. Simpson, Mr. Sullivan stated that they do not have an end builder 

yet; but imagines the homes will be a mix of one- and two-story homes. 

In response to questions by John Harris, 2306 Mountain Apply Way, Apopka, Mr. Hitt stated this 

was a 48 lot single family homes subdivision.  Smaller lots, 60 feet wide, would be located on the 

interior of the project, and larger lots will be on the perimeter of the subdivision.  The minimum 

living area is proposed to be 1,700 sq. ft. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

4 of 17 

 

In response to a question by Kate Rodriguez, 2369 Ellen Lane, Apopka, Mr. Moon stated that the east 

side will have a brick masonry wall. 

 
With no one else wishing to speak, Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   John Sprinkle made a motion to request to find the proposed rezoning consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; recommend 
approval of the rezoning of the subject parcel from R-1A (Residential Single 
Family District) to PUD (Planned Unit Development);  and recommend approval 
of the PUD Master Plan based on the PUD Recommendations, and the findings 
and facts presented in the staff report for the property owned by JEL Land 
Development LLC and located on the east side of Rogers Road, approximately 
one half mile north of the intersection of Rogers Road and Lester Road. Motion 
seconded by Linda Laurendeau.  Aye votes were cast by Aye votes were cast by 
James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch 
Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – SPECIAL EXCEPTION – RENEWAL CHURCH - Chairperson Greene 
stated this is a request to approve a Special Exception to allow a place of worship within the AG-E 
(Agriculture Estates) zoning category, subject to the special exception conditions of use and the 
findings in the staff report, for the property owned by Donald J. Sabiston and located at 2335 Appy 
Lane. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak. No 
one spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Mr. Martinez stated this is a request to approve a Special Exception to allow a 
place of worship within the AG-E (Agriculture Estates) zoning category, subject to the special 
exception conditions of use and the findings in the staff report, for the property owned by Donald J. 
Sabiston and located at 2335 Appy Lane.  The land use is Residential Very Low Suburban and the 
zoning is Agriculture-Estates (AG-E).  The existing use is a mobile home and wood shed; and the 
proposed use is a church.  The tract size is 4.96 +/- acres. 
 
Within the AG-E (Agriculture Estates) zoning category, a place of worship is a use that requires an 
approved Special Exception. The proposed place of worship is intended to be constructed in two 
phases. Phase 1 calls for a 10,400 sq. ft. building, with a 248 seating capacity, and 12 employees. 
Phase 2 results in a total building square footage of 15,500 sq. ft., a total seating capacity of 475, and 
a total of 25 employees. The Parking Area is planned to be constructed, in its entirety, during the 
construction of Phase 1. 
 
The property is presently assigned a Future Land Use Designation of “Residential Very Low 
Suburban”. Institutional Uses, of five acres or less, are allowed as a Special Exception in the 
Comprehensive Plan, per Policy 3.1.C. 

 
A. Relationship to Adjacent Properties:    Zoning and existing land use assigned to adjacent and 

nearby properties appears in the attached exhibits.  The character of the area surrounding the 
subject property is described as follows:   

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Residential Very Low Suburban PUD Woodlands/HOA Tract 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

5 of 17 

 

East (City) Residential Very Low Suburban PUD Vacant Lands & 1 Single Family Home 

South (City) Residential Very Low Suburban & 
Institutional/Public Use 

PO/I Northwest Recreation Fields 

West (City) Residential Very Low Suburban AG-E Single Family Houses 

 
B. Special Exception Distance Separation Standard. “All special exception uses shall be located a 

minimum of 1,000 feet from any other existing like use in non-residential districts, and 1,500 
feet in residential districts.” (Article II, Section 2.00.00, 5. Special Exceptions. B1). The 
proposed place of worship is more than 1,500 feet from any other place of worship.  

 
C. Special Exception Development Standards.  Article II of the Land Development Code 

establishes development standards specific to special exceptions.  These standards are intended 
to reduce any impacts from the proposed special exception use on adjacent properties. After 
review of the Development Plan for the Special Exception, staff finds that the applicant has met 
the intent of the regulations stated in Article II, Section 2.02.01 General, (5), Special 
Exceptions.  

 
The parking requirement for this use is one space for each 3 fixed seats provided for patron use, 
plus 1 space per employee. With 167 parking spaces depicted on the development plan, the 
applicant meets the requirement for off-street parking. 

 
 Fifteen (15) foot wide buffer yards have been provided on the western and eastern boundary 

lines, with a 6 feet tall masonry wall in the buffer yards. The west and east adjacent lands are 
currently used, or zoned for, residential development. While a buffer yard and wall were not 
provided on the northern boundary, the proposed conditions of this development, as well as the 
existing conditions of the north-adjacent parcel, counter the need for a buffer yard and wall. The 
northern area of the subject property is planned to have a conservation area with a depth longer 
than 50 feet. The north-adjacent parcel is a heavily wooded HOA tract belonging to the Orchid 
Estates Subdivision.  

 
 A lighting plan, landscape plan, sign plan, and architectural elevations will be provided during 

the Site Plan Approval Process (i.e. Preliminary Development Plan and/or Final Development 
Plan). 

 
D. Special Exception Conditions of Use.   
 

1. Day Cares or Schools functioning as a primary use (Monday through Friday) will require an 
amendment to the Special Exception. 

 
2. This Special Exception authorization expires if (a) the applicant fails to obtain a certificate 

of occupancy or a business tax receipt within five years from the date of the Special 
Exception approval; and (b) the Special Exception Use has vacated the parcel for more than 
180 consecutive days. 

 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval for a Special Exception to allow a place 
of worship within the AG-E zoning district subject to the special exception conditions within the 
Staff Report. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission approve a Special Exception to allow a place of 
worship, subject to the Special Exception Conditions of Use, within the AG-E (Agriculture Estates) 
zoning category for the property owned by Donald J. Sabiston and located at 2335 Appy Lane. 
 
Pursuant to the City of Apopka Code of Ordinances, Part III, Land Development, Article XI, Section 
11.05.D.1 the Planning Commission has the authority to take final action on a special exception 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

6 of 17 

 

application.  Therefore, the Planning Commission may approve, deny or approve with conditions this 
application.  An applicant may appeal the Planning Commission action to the City Council. 
 
This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
The petitioner did not have a presentation. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.   
 
Ruth Myers, 2487 Appy Lane, Apopka, questioned the notification process and requested that, since 
the lots are larger in the Appy Lane area, staff notify all property owners on Appy Lane regarding the 
project rather than just the property owners within 300 feet.   
 
Mr. Moon stated that notification requirements include the applicant sending certified mail 
notifications to property owners within 300 feet of a proposed project; the property being posted; and 
advertising in the Apopka Chief.  He said all of those requirements were met for this project.  He 
added that the Preliminary Development Plan and the Final Development Plan will be brought before 
the City Council and Planning Commission during the site plan process. 
 
Ms. Myers requested that the Planning Commission postpone making a decision on the Special 
Exception until the property owners on Appy Lane are notified and voiced her concerns regarding 
traffic and noise impacts to the surrounding neighborhood. 
 
In response to a question by Mr. Sprinkle, Mr. Moon stated the church would be required to install a 
6 foot brick or masonry wall. 
 
In response to questions by Ms. Laurendeau, Mr. Moon stated that noise violations would be handled 
through Code Enforcement.  There could also be a requirement for additional wall and landscape 
buffering.  He added that if the church decided to have a full time daycare they would be required to 
amend the Special Exception. 
 
With no one else wishing to speak, Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to approve a Special Exception to allow a 

place of worship within the AG-E (Agriculture Estates) zoning category, subject 
to the special exception conditions of use and the findings in the staff report, for 
the property owned by Donald J. Sabiston and located at 2335 Appy Lane. 
Motion seconded by John Sprinkle.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Linda 
Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by 
poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN – BRIDLEWOOD 
SUBDIVISION - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the Bridlewood Subdivision 
Preliminary Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 
Code; and recommend approval of the Bridlewood Subdivision Preliminary Development Plan 
subject to the Conditions of Approval, findings of the staff report, and findings of the buffer/wall 
variance approved on June 12, 2018, for the property owned by Laura K. Murphy and located at 359 
West Lester Road.   
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No 
one spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

7 of 17 

 

 
Staff Presentation:  Jean Sanchez, Planner II, stated this is a request to find the Bridlewood 
Subdivision Preliminary Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Code; and recommend approval of the Bridlewood Subdivision Preliminary 
Development Plan subject to the Conditions of Approval, findings of the staff report, and findings of 
the buffer/wall variance approved on June 12, 2018, for the property owned by Laura K. Murphy and 
located at 359 West Lester Road.  The applicant is Appian Engineering, c/o Luke Classon, P.E.  The 
land use is Residential Low Suburban and the zoning is R-1 (Single Family Residential).  The 
existing use is the Errol Equestrian Center and the proposed use is a 52 Single Family Residence 
subdivision.  The minimum lot width is 75 feet and the minimum lot size is 8,000 sq. ft.  The 
proposed density is 2.6 du/ac (Max. 3.5 du/ac).  The tract size is 19.94 +/- acres. 
 
The Bridlewood Subdivision – Preliminary Development Plan proposes the development of 52 single 
family residential lots.  The minimum typical lot width is 75 feet with a minimum lot size of 8,000 
square feet.  The required minimum living area for the subdivision is 1,500 square feet as set forth in 
Chapter 2 of the Land Development Code for single-family lots located within the R-1 zoning.     The 
minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 
Front* 25’ 
Side 10’ 
Rear 20’ 
Corner 25’ 

*Front-entry garage must be setback 30 feet. 
 
Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via full access onto Lester Road.  A future 
connection occurs through a stub-out street at the northwest corner of the project. 
 
A transportation impact analysis (TIA) was conducted for this project to assess its impacts on the 
surrounding roadway segments and intersections within a one-mile radius of the project per the City’s 
adopted TIA methodology. Included in the analysis were segments of CR 435, Welch Road, Lester 
Road, Ponkan Road, and Vick Road. Intersections analyzed were Lester Road and Rock Springs 
Road, Lester Road and Vick Road, and Lester Road and the project entrance. Right and left turn lane 
warrant studies at the site entrance were also conducted. 
 
The project will generate 576 daily trips and 58 P.M. Peak Hour trips. The addition of these project 
trips to the study roadways will not cause the Level of Service (LOS) to fall below the City’s adopted 
level of service (LOS). The current intersection analyses with existing traffic volumes indicate that 
the addition of Bridlewood project trips will not cause the intersection of Lester Road and Rock 
Springs Road or the site entrance to be over capacity.  However, the intersection of Lester Road and 
Vick Road has experienced some delay issues during the P.M. Peak Hour.   These issues are currently 
being monitored and improvements may be required at a later date, but not directly the responsibility 
of this project.   This project will not adversely impact the current operation of the intersection.  
 
The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area and located on the north 
portion of the project site.  The stormwater pond design meets the City’s Land Development Code 
requirements. 
 
The applicant is providing 0.47 acre/approximately 20,473 square feet of recreation space that 
includes a playground.   
 
A 10-foot wide landscaped buffer easement including a pineapple guava, an evergreen hedge and 6-
foot tall brick, masonry, concrete or precast wall are provided along Lester Road.  A 6-foot tall 
composite fence within a 5-foot wide landscaped buffer are proposed on the western, northern and 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

8 of 17 

 

eastern perimeters of the site.  Additional oak trees will be provided along the eastern boundary as 
additional screening for the existing Avian Reconditioning Center, and as part of the approved 
proposal for screening/wall variance, VAR18-03 Laura Murphy, public hearing.  
 
At the Planning Commission meeting on June 12, 2018, a variance, VAR18-03 Laura Murphy, was 
approved for the subject property allowing a 6-foot tall composite fence within a 5-foot wide 
bufferyard in lieu of required 6-foot tall brick, stone, or decorative block wall on the western, 
northern and eastern perimeters. 
 
A school concurrency mitigation agreement has been executed and a copy of the letter from Orange 
County Public Schools (OCPS) has been supplied to Staff. 
 
The County was notified at the time of the plat for this property through the DRC agenda distribution. 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Bridlewood Subdivision – 

Preliminary Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Bridlewood Subdivision consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and the Land Development Code; and recommend approval of the Preliminary 
Development Plan subject to the findings of the staff report and the public hearing findings for 
VAR18-03 Laura Murphy.  
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council 
to approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code.     
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
Petitioner: Luke Classon, Appian Engineering, LLC, 2221 Lee Road, Suite 17, Winter Park, stated he 
represented the owner, supported the staff report, and was available to answer any questions. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, 
Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Jose Molina made a motion to find the Bridlewood Subdivision Preliminary 

Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Code; and recommend approval of the Bridlewood Subdivision 
Preliminary Development Plan subject to the Conditions of Approval, findings of 
the staff report, and findings of the buffer/wall variance approved on June 12, 
2018, for the property owned by Laura K. Murphy and located at 359 West 
Lester Road.  Motion seconded by Linda Laurendeau.  Aye votes were cast by 
James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch 
Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – DOLLAR GENERAL - Chairperson 
Greene stated this is a request to find the Dollar General Final Development Plan consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and recommend approval of the Dollar General 
Final Development Plan subject to the Conditions of Approval and the findings of the staff report for 
the property owned by Lloyd Lee; Mobley Mattie Life Estate; and Nathan Jerome Shaw, Sr. and 
located at 51 & 57 East Michael Gladden Boulevard and West 9

th
 Street.   

 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No 
one spoke. 
 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

9 of 17 

 

Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Ms. Sanchez stated this is a request to find the Dollar General Final Development 
Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and recommend approval 
of the Dollar General Final Development Plan subject to the Conditions of Approval and the findings 
of the staff report for the property owned by Lloyd Lee; Mobley Mattie Life Estate; and Nathan 
Jerome Shaw, Sr. and located at 51 & 57 East Michael Gladden Boulevard and West 9

th
 Street.  The 

engineering firms are Z Development Services, LLC, c/o Bob Ziegenfuss, P.E. and Hanlex Group, LLC, 
c/o Jeremy Anderson, P.E.  The land use is Commercial and the zoning is C-1 (Retail Commercial).  The 
existing use is vacant and the proposed use is a general business establishment.  The proposed building 
size is 7,600 square feet with a Floor Area Ration (FAR) of 0.179 (0.25 Maximum).  The tract size is 0.97 
+/- acres. 
 
This is a request to approve the Dollar General Store Final Development Plan that includes a building 
size of 7,600 square feet and height of 21 feet.  A preliminary development plan is not required for 
development proposing less than 10,000 sq. ft. of building floor area. 
       
Per Land Development Code parking requirements, a total of 25 parking spaces will be provided, two 
of which are reserved as a handicapped parking spaces.   
 
Access to the site is via two full access points on Park Avenue and Michael Gladden Boulevard.  The 
main entrance is on Michael Gladden Boulevard. 
 
A.  Road Jurisdiction. 
 

1. Park Avenue – Orange County.  Any new access driveway to Park Avenue requires 
authorization from Orange County government. 
 

2. Michael Gladden Boulevard. --- City of Apopka.  
 

B. Traffic Study Findings.  A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was submitted for this project that 
assessed its impacts on the transportation facilities adjacent to the site. The project is anticipated 
to generate 34 PM Peak Hour net new trips. The roadway segments of Park Avenue from US 441 
to Michael Gladden Boulevard and Michael Gladden Boulevard from Bradshaw Road to Park 
Avenue were analyzed for both existing and projected conditions. The roadway segment analysis 
demonstrates sufficient capacity exists on both roadways to accommodate the addition of trips 
generated by this project.  

 
 The intersection of Park Avenue and Michael Gladden Boulevard was analyzed for existing and 

future conditions for the PM Peak Hour. Under existing conditions, the eastbound left turn 
movement from Michael Gladden Boulevard to Park Avenue is experiencing significant delays. 
The westbound, northbound and southbound movements are operating at an acceptable level of 
service. For the future conditions analysis which includes existing, committed and project traffic, 
the eastbound left turn movement delay is slightly increased. This increase is primarily due to 
overall background traffic growth in and around the area. The westbound, northbound and 
southbound movements continue to operate at acceptable levels of service.  

 
C.  Road/Intersection Improvements.  None proposed or warranted, unless Orange County finds a 

need for road or intersection improvement as part of its review of the right of way permit on to 
Park Avenue. 

 
The height of the proposed building is 21 feet, well below the maximum allowable height of 35'.  
Staff has found the proposed building elevations meet the intent of the City’s Development Design 
Standards\Guidelines. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

10 of 17 

 

   
The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area, on the western portion of the 
project site.  The stormwater pond design meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 
Prior to issuance of a building permit, the property owner shall consolidate the three parcels 
comprising the final development plan into a single parcel.  
 
As part of the development plan approval, bald cypress, sweet gum trees, and viburnum hedges line 
the buffer wall placed within the 10-foot wide landscape buffer at western perimeter of the project 
site, adjacent to the retention pond.  The 10-foot wide landscape buffers on the southern and eastern 
boundaries, abutting Michael Gladden Boulevard and Park Avenue, consist of live oaks, sweet gum, 
yaupon holly and southern magnolias.  
 
 Arbor Assessment 
Total inches on-site: 396 
Total inches removed 396 
Total inches retained: 0 
Total inches added:         97 
Total inches post development:                       97 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Dollar General Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Dollar General Final Development Plan 
consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of 
Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council 
to approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. 
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
Petitioner: Jeremy Anderson, Hanlex Development, 1000 Colour Place, Apopka, reviewed the 
project, access to and from the location, and the architectural features of the building. 
 
In response to a question by Ms. Laurendeau, Mohammed Abdallah, P.E./PTOE, Traffic & Mobility 
Consultants LLC, 3101 Maguire Boulevard, Suite 265, Orlando, stated that a traffic study was 
completed and traffic impacts to the Park Avenue and Michael Gladden Boulevard intersection is 
negligible.   
 
In response to a question by Mr. Sprinkle, Ms. Sanchez stated that the Public Services Department, as 
a participant on the Development Review Committee (DRC) reviews dumpster enclosures to ensure 
compatibility with the building design. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, 
Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to find the Dollar General Final Development 

Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and 
recommend approval of the Dollar General Final Development Plan subject to 
the Conditions of Approval and the findings of the staff report for the property 
owned by Lloyd Lee; Mobley Mattie Life Estate; and Nathan Jerome Shaw, Sr. 
and located at 51 & 57 East Michael Gladden Boulevard and West 9

th
 Street.  

Motion seconded by Jose Molina.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Linda 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

11 of 17 

 

Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by 
poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – MASTER/PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN – GREYSTONE 
SKILL NURSING FACILITY - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the Greystone 
Master Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan consistent with the 
Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; recommend approval of the Greystone Master 
Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan subject to the findings of 
this staff report and City Council approval of the termination of the Amended and Restated 
Developer’s Agreement for Emerson Park, dated March 1, 2006; for the property owned by 
Residences at Emerson Park, LLC and located at 1601 Alston Bay Boulevard.   
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No 
one spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.   
 
Butch Stanley stated that he would abstain from voting on this item as he is a member of the Emerson 
Park Homeowners’ Association. 
 
No other ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Bobby Howell, AICP, Senior Planner stated this is a request to find the Greystone 
Master Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan consistent with the 
Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; recommend approval of the Greystone Master 
Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan subject to the findings of 
this staff report and City Council approval of the termination of the Amended and Restated 
Developer’s Agreement for Emerson Park, dated March 1, 2006; for the property owned by 
Residences at Emerson Park, LLC and located at 1601 Alston Bay Boulevard.   The 
applicant/engineer is Donald W. McIntosh Associates, Inc., c/o Michael Farrell, P.E.  The land use is 
Commercial and the zoning is Mixed-EC.  The existing use is vacant land and the proposed use is a 
Skilled Nursing Facility.  The proposed building side is 108,567 sq. ft.  The total tract size is 24.08 +/- 
acres.  The Greystone development area is 9.77 +/- acres leaving an area of 14.31 +/- acres for future 
development. 
 
The subject property is approximately 24.08 acres in size and is zoned Mixed EC, and is located at 
the northeast corner of the intersection of Ocoee-Apopka Road and Alston Bay Boulevard, 
specifically at 1601 Alston Bay Boulevard. The property is located within the Emerson Park 
subdivision, on Tract “G” as noted on the plat thereof. The property is subject to a Development 
Agreement that was approved in 2006, which requires the property to be developed as a Town 
Center. The applicant has filed a termination of this Development Agreement, which will be required 
to be approved by the City Council. The Master Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan 
and Subdivision Plan details a two lot commercial subdivision consisting of one 9.77 acre parcel with 
a 108,567 square foot Skilled Nursing Facility and a 14.23 acre vacant parcel that will be reserved for 
uses that are permitted in the Mixed EC zoning district.  
     
A total of 218 parking spaces will be provided on site for the skilled nursing facility. Two parking 
spaces are reserved for emergency vehicles. Ten spaces are handicapped parking spaces.  Additional 
parking spaces are available along Alston Bay Blvd. 
 
Access to the site is provided via two full access points located on Alston Bay Boulevard.  
 
A transportation impact analysis (TIA) was conducted for this project to assess its impacts on the 
surrounding roadway segments and intersections within a one-mile radius of the project per the City’s 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

12 of 17 

 

adopted TIA methodology. Included in the analysis were segments of Ocoee-Apopka Road, Harmon 
Road, Keene Road, Marden Road, and Alston Bay Boulevard. Intersections analyzed were Ocoee-
Apopka Road and Keene Road, Alston Bay Boulevard, and Harmon Road; Marden Road and Morga 
Drive/Hilltop Reserve Lane; and the two site entrances on Alston Bay Boulevard. Right and left turn 
lane warrant studies at the site entrance were also conducted. 
 
The project will generate 1,060 daily trips and 123 P.M. Peak Hour trips. The addition of these 
project trips to the study roadways will not cause the Level of Service (LOS) to fall below the City’s 
adopted LOS. The roadway segment of Ocoee-Apopka Road between SR 429 and Keene Road is 
currently over capacity and will continue to have deficient capacity until Orange County widens it to 
four lanes. The current intersection analyses with existing traffic volumes indicate that the addition of 
the Greystone Skilled Nursing Facility project trips will not cause the study intersections or the site 
entrances to be over capacity.  However, the intersection of Ocoee-Apopka Road and Keene Road 
has delay issues during the P.M. Peak Hour.  This project will not adversely impact the current 
operation of the intersection but the intersection will continue to experience delays for the minor 
street (Keene Road) movements until the planned signal is installed.   Ocoee-Apopka Road is under 
the jurisdiction of Orange County, and any improvements to this road are controlled by Orange 
County. 
 
The architectural elevations provided for the Skilled Nursing Facility propose a one story building 
with architectural design elements including decorative cupolas, painted stucco, stone veneer, vinyl 
impact windows, and decorative painted stucco trim forming a watermark around the perimeter of the 
building. The building exhibits high quality architectural elements that are required in the 
Development Design Guidelines.   
   
Stormwater run-off and drainage will be conveyed to the existing master stormwater system for the 
Emerson Park subdivision. This stormwater system was sized for development of Tract G, and was 
permitted by St. John’s River Water Management District (SJRWMD) permit #4-095-101Q65. 
 
The applicant has provided a detailed landscape and irrigation plan that complies with the 
requirements of the City’s Land Development Code. The planting materials and irrigation system 
design are consistent with the water-efficient, Florida-friendly landscape standards set forth in 
Ordinance No. 2069. Landscaping including Live Oaks, Red Maple, Southern Magnolia, Dahoon 
Holly, Crepe Myrtle, Zoysia and Bahia sod are provided on site.  
 
There is one pine on the site that is 9-inches D.B.H. The landscape plan proposes replacing this tree 
with three, three-inch D.B.H trees.  The site currently has Agricultural Property Tax Credit status as 
young pine trees are planted in rows throughout the site.  Planted pines are not subject to the City’s 
arbor ordinance when planted for agriculture\silvaculture purposes. 
 
The Development and Zoning Conditions of Approval are that the zoning classification of the 
following described property be designated as Mixed-EC, as defined in the Land Development Code, 
and with the following provisions:  (1) Development of the property is subject to the requirements of 
the Land Development Code, Mixed-EC zoning district; and (2) City Council approval of the 
termination of the Amended and Restated Developer’s Agreement for Emerson Park, dated March 1, 
2006. 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Greystone Master Preliminary 
Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan, subject to the findings of this staff 
report. 
 
Staff’s recommendation to the Planning Commission is to find the Greystone Master Preliminary 
Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan consistent with the Land Development 
Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of the Greystone Master Preliminary 
Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan and Subdivision Plan, subject to the findings of this staff 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

13 of 17 

 

report and City Council approval of the termination of the Amended and Restated Developer’s 
Agreement for Emerson Park, dated March 1, 2006. 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council 
to approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code.  
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
Petitioner: Michael Farrell, P.E., Donald W. McIntosh Associates, Inc., 2200 Park Avenue North, 
Winter Park, stated he represented the owner and was available to answer any questions. 
 
In response to questions by Mr. Sprinkle, Mr. Farrell stated that the facility would be for remedial 
care and rehabilitation center.  He said the vinyl impact windows were a Building Code requirement. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, 
Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Jose Molina made a motion to find the Greystone Skilled Nursing Facility 

Master/Preliminary Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and Land Development Code; and recommend approval of the Greystone Skilled 
Nursing Facility Master/Preliminary Development Plan subject to the Conditions 
of Approval and findings of the staff report for the property owned by 
Residences at Emerson Park, LLC and located at 1601 Alston Bay Boulevard. 
Motion seconded by John Sprinkle.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Linda 
Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by 
poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – LAKE GEM COMMERCE PARK, 
LOT 10 - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request to find the Lake Gem Commerce Park, Lot 10, 
Final Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and 
recommend approval of the Lake Gem Commerce Park, Lot 10, Final Development Plan subject to 
the Conditions of Approval and findings of the staff report for the property owned by Property 
Industrial Enterprises, LLC and located at 511 & 611 Marshall Lake Road.    
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No 
one spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Ms. Sanchez stated this is a request to find the Lake Gem Commerce Park, Lot 
10, Final Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; 
and recommend approval of the Lake Gem Commerce Park, Lot 10, Final Development Plan subject 
to the Conditions of Approval and findings of the staff report for the property owned by Property 
Industrial Enterprises, LLC and located at 511 & 611 Marshall Lake Road.   The engineer is Ken 
Ehlers, P.E.  The land use is Industrial and the zoning is Planned Unit Development (PUD/I-1).  The 
existing use is vacant land and the proposed us is an industrial lot (Lot 10) within the 12-Lot 
Commerce Park.  The proposed building size is 7,489 sq. ft. and the proposed Floor Area Ratio 
(FAR) is 0.22 (Max. 0.60 FAR).  The tract size for Lot 10 is 0.76 +/- acres or 33,196 sq. ft.  

The Lake Gem Commerce Park Lot 10 Final Development Plan is a site plan proposing a 7,489 sq. 
ft., one-story building. Located within the PUD/I-1 zoning district, Lot 10 contains 33,196 square 
feet.  Lake Gem Commerce complies with the development standards for I-1 zoning district but 
allowed for a building height of up 50 feet. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

14 of 17 

 

 
The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 
 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 
Front* 25’ 
Side 10’ 
Rear 10’* 
Corner 25’ 

*30 feet setback from residential uses or zoning districts. 
 
Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via the spine road, Gem Commerce Court 
with full access onto Marshall Lake Road.  Twenty parking spaces, including one ADA-compliant 
parking space, are provided as required by Code. 
 
A transportation impact analysis (TIA) was conducted for the Lake Gem Industrial Park to assess the 
impacts of the total project on the surrounding roadway segments and intersections within a one-mile 
radius of the project per the City’s adopted TIA methodology. Marshall Lake Building Lot 10 is one 
of 12 lots located in the 90,000 square feet Lake Gem Industrial Park project, representing about 8% 
of the total project. Included in the analysis were segments of Bradshaw Road, Marshall Lake Road, 
and W 1

st
 Street. The intersection of Bradshaw Road and Lake Marshall Road along with the site 

entrance were also analyzed.  
 
The Lake Gem Industrial Park project will generate 627 daily trips and 87 P.M. Peak Hour trips. 
Marshall Lake Building Lot 10 will generate 52 daily trips and 7 P.M. Peak Hour Trips. The addition 
of the project trips for the entire Lake Gem Industrial Park to the study roadways will not cause the 
Level of Service (LOS) to fall below the City’s adopted LOS. The intersection of Bradshaw Road and 
Marshall Lake Road and the site entrance will operate at acceptable Levels of Service with the 
addition of project generated traffic. 
 
The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area on the western portion of the 
Lake Gem Commerce Park.  The stormwater pond design has been previously reviewed under the 
Lake Gem Commerce Park and meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 
A 25-foot wide landscaped buffer is provided along Gem Commerce Court.  A Crepe Myrtle is 
provided for each parking landscape island, which is approximately 10-feet in width and matches the 
length of the adjacent parking spaces. 
 
The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and plat for this property through the 
DRC agenda distribution.  
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Marshall Lake Building Lot 10 
Final Development Plan subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Lake Gem Commerce Park Lot 10 Final 
Development Plan/Site Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; 
and recommend approval of the Lake Gem Commerce Park Lot 10Final Development/Site Plan, 
subject to the findings of this staff report, owned by Property Industrial Enterprises, LLC c/o Michael 
R. Cooper and located at 511 and 611 Marshall Lake Road. 
 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council 
to approve, deny, or approve with conditions based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and 
Land Development Code.     
 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

15 of 17 

 

This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
Petitioner Presentation:  None provided. 
 
In response to a question by Mr. Sprinkle, Ms. Sanchez stated that each lot will come in with its own 
site plan. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, 
Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Jose Molina made a motion to find the Lake Gem Commerce Park, Lot 10, Final 

Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Code; and recommend approval of the Lake Gem Commerce Park, 
Lot 10, Final Development Plan subject to the Conditions of Approval and 
findings of the staff report for the property owned by Property Industrial 
Enterprises, LLC and located at 511 & 611 Marshall Lake Road.  Motion 
seconded by Linda Laurendeau.  Aye votes were cast by James Greene, Linda 
Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and Butch Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by 
poll.) 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL – PLAT – LAKESIDE, PHASE 1 - Chairperson Greene stated this is a request 
to find the Lakeside, Phase 1 Subdivision Plat consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Code; and recommend approval of the Lakeside, Phase 1, Plat subject to the Conditions 
of Approval, and findings of the staff report for the property owned by Avatar Properties, Inc. and 
James D. & Deborah Lyda, and located south of Marshall Lake and west of SR 451.   
 
Chairperson Greene asked if there were any affected parties in attendance that wished to speak.  No 
one spoke. 
 
Chairperson Greene asked if the Commission members had any ex parte communications to divulge 
regarding this item.  No ex parte communications occurred. 
 
Staff Presentation:  Mr. Moon stated this is a request to find the Lakeside, Phase 1 Subdivision Plat 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and recommend approval of 
the Lakeside, Phase 1, Plat subject to the Conditions of Approval, and findings of the staff report for 
the property owned by Avatar Properties, Inc. and James D. & Deborah Lyda, and located south of 
Marshall Lake and west of SR 451.  The applicant is Appian Engineering, LLC. c/o Luke M. 
Classon, P.E.  The land use is Low Density Residential, Mixed-Use and the zoning is PUD.  The 
existing use is vacant land and the proposed use is a 177 single-family home subdivision.  The total 
tract size is 114.288 +/- acres and the developable area is 79.46 +/- acres. 
 
On April 4, 2018 the City Council approved a PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan for the 
Lake Marshall subdivision, which details the development of 301 single family residential lots in two 
phases. The subject property is located south of Marshall Lake and west of SR 451. The surrounding 
properties consist primarily of single-family residential, and agricultural uses. The developer has 
submitted a Final Development Plan and Plat for phase 1 of the Lake Marshall subdivision, now named 
Lakeside.  
 
The applicant is requesting approval of the Plat for Phase 1 of Lakeside. The Lakeside Phase 1 plat is for 
177 single-family residential lots. All internal roadways are proposed as privately owned and maintained, 
and the subdivision will be gated. The plat for Phase 2 will be submitted in the future. Consistent with the 
approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, lot widths of 60-feet and 75-feet are provided 
on the Phase 1 plat. A minimum living area of 1,800 square feet is provided for all units located within 
Phase 1.  



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

16 of 17 

 

 
The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 
 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 
Front 25’ 
Side 5’ 
Rear 20’ 
Corner 15’ 

 
Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via Johns Road. Adjacent to the west of the 
subject property is the Breckenridge subdivision. A gated access for emergency vehicles will be 
provided between the two subdivisions. This access point will only be for emergency vehicles. In 
response to the Breckenridge homeowners association, pedestrian access will not be permitted 
between the two subdivisions. 
 
There are three (3) retention ponds designed to meet the City’s Land Development Code 
requirements. 
 
 
The recreation package will consist of a cabana with restrooms, a swimming pool, a playground, and 
a mixed-use active field at a minimum. In addition the developer is dedicating a tract in Phase 1 
adjacent to Marshall Lake as a Community Lake Park that will have a community dock, and a 1.03 
acre open space tract across the street from this park. In the Phase 2 area, two tracts will be dedicated 
as a park/open space area, and a 15.12 acre Conservation area will also be dedicated. 
 
Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, landscaping is provided 
at the subdivision entrance on Johns Road, and a 5-foot landscape buffer is provided along the rear of lots 
1-24. An existing 50-foot landscape buffer occurs along the western and northern project line within 
the Breckenridge plat. This buffer is noted as a tract on the Breckenridge plat. The Lake Marshall 
development will not be visible from the homes within Breckenridge.  
 
The following is a summary of the tree replacement program for this project: 
 
Total inches on-site:      13,947 
Total number of specimen trees: 100 
Total inches removed:  12,776 
Total inches retained: 361 
Total inches replaced:  3,701 
Total Inches (Post Development): 4,311 

 
The developer has obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement with Orange County Public 
Schools to address school impacts generated by this residential development. The schools zoned to 
receive students from this community are the following: Apopka Elementary School, Wolf Lake Middle 
School and Apopka High School.  
 
The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and plat for this property through the DRC 
agenda distribution.  
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Lakeside, Phase 1 Plat subject to the 
final review by the City surveyor and city engineer prior to recording the plat. 
 
Staff recommended the Planning Commission find the Lakeside, Phase 1 Plat consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; recommend approval of the Lakeside, Phase 1 Plat, 
subject to the Conditions of Approval and final review by the City surveyor and city engineer prior to 
recording the plat. 



MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION  REGULAR MEETING HELD ON JUNE 26, 2018, AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

17 of 17 

 

 
The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise the City Council to 
approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code.     
 
This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
Petitioner: Luke Classon, Appian Engineering, LLC, 2221 Lee Road, Suite 17, Winter Park, stated he 
represented the owner, supported the staff report, and was available to answer any questions. 
 
Chairperson Greene opened the meeting for public hearing.  With no one wishing to speak, 
Chairperson Greene closed the public hearing.  
 
Motion:   Linda Laurendeau made a motion to find the Lakeside, Phase 1 Subdivision Plat 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and 
recommend approval of the Lakeside, Phase 1, Plat subject to the Conditions of 
Approval, and findings of the staff report for the property owned by Avatar 
Properties, Inc. and James D. & Deborah Lyda, and located south of Marshall 
Lake and west of SR 451.  Motion seconded by Butch Stanley.  Aye votes were 
cast by James Greene, Linda Laurendeau, Jose Molina, John Sprinkle, and 
Butch Stanley (5-0). (Vote taken by poll.) 

 
OLD BUSINESS:  None. 
  
NEW BUSINESS:  None 
 
ADJOURNMENT:   The meeting was adjourned at 6:45 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
James Greene, Chairperson 
 
 
 
 
James K. Hitt, FRA-RA 
Community Development Director 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: July 10, 2018 

 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:    Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Aerial Map 

    Site Plan 

    Ordinance No. 2345 
  

SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE NO. 2668 – AMENDMENT TO THE PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT FOR 3800 W. ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL 

    

REQUEST:  AMENDMENT TO ORDINANCE 2345, WHICH AMENDS THE PLANNED 

UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) FOR 3800 W. ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL  
  

SUMMARY:  
 

OWNER:   Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort Inc.  
 
APPLICANT:   Robert Vesely 
 
LOCATION: 3800 W. Orange Blossom Trail 

 

PARCEL ID #:  36-20-27-0000-00-020 
 

EXISTING USE:  RV Resort Park (Caravan Park) 
 
LAND USE:   Mixed Use 
 
ZONING:   Planned Unit Development  
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT: Maintain existing RV Resort Park, with 81 approved lots, and add 11 lots. 
 
TOTAL ACRES:  10.2 +/- 
 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL APOPKA KOA CAMPGROUND PUD AMENDMENT 
PAGE 2 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Rural P-D Woodlands 

East (City) Industrial ZIP Warehouse (BWI Company) 

South (City) Agriculture; Mixed Use AG, ZIP, I-1 Greenhouse; Outdoor Storage; Single Family Homes 

West (City) Industrial I-1 Greenhouse 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject property is located at 3800 West Orange Blossom Trail. 
Annexed on January 16, 2008, via Ordinance number 2006, the site comprised of a RV Resort Park. On 
January 15, 2014, the subject area was assigned PUD zoning, via Ordinance number 2345.  
 
Ordinance No.  2345 permits 81 campground sites for recreation vehicles, campers, or manufactured homes 
for commercial temporary lodging and associated accessory uses or structures. Any additional campground 
sites must be approved by City Council. The applicant proposes 11 additional sites along the southern 
boundary line. Parallel to the southern boundary line is a solid, opaque fence and Fudge Road. The 
predominant uses south of Fudge Road are mostly agriculture and industrial oriented. Due to the 
surrounding uses, Planning staff does not object to 11 additional campground sites along the southern 
border.  If the PUD amendment is approved, a maximum of 92 campground sites will be allowed. 
 
A maximum number of campground sites was established within Ordinance No. 2345 to manage the 
intensity of the use of the property for public health, safety and welfare reasons.  At the time of the original 
PUD zoning application, the campground owner proposed 81 campground sites.   At this time the owner 
desires to expand the campground to accommodate 11 additional campground sites.  The Development 
Review Committee did not identify any concerns regarding public health, safety, or welfare, or with 
compatibility with adjacent land uses. 
 
Comprehensive Plan Compliance:  The proposed amendment to Ordinance 2345 is consistent with the City’s 
Mixed Use Future Land Use category. Development plans shall not exceed the intensity allowed under the 
adopted Mixed Use Future Land Use designation. 
 
Land Use Compatibility:  The Property is located on a major arterial road (West Orange Blossom Trail).The 
proposed amendment to Ordinance 2345 will not create any land use or traffic compatibility issues with adjacent 
uses. Development of the site must occur consistent with standards set forth in the Land Development Code and 
Development Design Guidelines unless otherwise approved within the PUD master plan. 
 
PROPOSED PUD RECOMMENDATIONS: The only revisions PUD Ordinance 2345 is the maximum 
number of campground sites.  
 
Proposed Amendment to Ord. No. 2345: 
 

Section I.:  The maximum number of campsites is proposed to be increased from 81 to 92 campsites.  
The following amendment (strike-through/underscore) is proposed to Ord. No. 2345: 

 
A. The uses permitted within the PUD district are: 

 
 A maximum of 81 92 campground sites for recreation vehicles, campers, or manufactured 

homes for commercial temporary lodging and associated accessory uses or structures. Any 
additional campground sites must be approved by the City Council. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL APOPKA KOA CAMPGROUND PUD AMENDMENT 
PAGE 3 
 

 One permanent single family residential structure or manufacture home for the campground 
operator. 

 
 Outdoor storage of recreation vehicles or campers, boats, and boat trailers, and outdoor 

recreational motor craft. Outdoor storage of automobiles, commercial trucks and trailers, 
and other large vehicles is not allowed. 
 

 Any use or activity allowed within the C-1 commercial zoning category. Development 
standards and setbacks shall comply with those established for the C-1 zoning category 
unless otherwise approved by the City Council within the Master Plan. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission – July 10, 2018, 5:30 p.m. 
City Council – July 18, 2018, 7:00 p.m. – First Reading 
City Council – August 1, 2018, 1:30 p.m. – Second Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 

June 22, 2018 – Public Notice; Letter, Poster 
 
  

RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee (DRC) recommends approval of the amendment to Ordinance 2345, 
for the property owned by Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort Inc., located at 3800 West Orange Blossom 
Trail, subject to PUD Recommendations and the information and findings in the staff report. 
 
Recommended Motion:   Find the proposed PUD amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
Land Development Code, and recommend to approve an amendment to Ordinance 2345, to allow a 
maximum of 92 campground sites at the Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort. 
 
Planning Commission Role:  Advisory to City Council.  Planning Commission can recommend to approve, 
deny or to approve with conditions. 
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL APOPKA KOA CAMPGROUND PUD AMENDMENT 
PAGE 4 
 

Application:  PUD Master Plan Amendment   

Applicant:  Robert Vesely 

Owner:  Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort Inc. 

Parcel ID Nos.:   36-20-27-0000-00-020 

Total Acres:  10.2 +/- 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL APOPKA KOA CAMPGROUND PUD AMENDMENT 
PAGE 5 
 

 

ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL APOPKA KOA CAMPGROUND PUD AMENDMENT 
PAGE 6 
 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 

  

 

 

 



2 

5 

4 

3 

1 

8 

9 

11 

10 

7 

6 X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 









 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

 PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: July 10, 2018 

X SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER:  Preliminary Development Plan   Aerial Map 

    Preliminary Development Plan 

    Building Elevations 
  
SUBJECT:    PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN – SITE PLAN AND SUBDIVISION 

PLAN – FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE 

    

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT 

PLAN FOR FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:   Farish Enterprises, LLC 
 
ENGINEER:                         Interplan, LLC, c/o Stuart Anderson, P.E.,  
 
LOCATION: 1616 East Semoran Boulevard 

 
PARCEL ID #:  11-21-28-5600-03-000 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: Commercial 
 
ZONING: C-2 (General Commercial District) 
 
EXISTING USE:                    Vacant  
 
PROPOSED USES: Hotel, Self-Storage Facility and RV Parking 
 
BUILDING SIZE: 112,320 square feet; 91 Rooms/51,588 SF - Hotel; 60,732 SF - Storage 
 
BUILDING HEIGHT: 53 feet (Hotel) and 35 feet (Self-Storage) 
 
FLOOR AREA RATIO: 0.2499 (0.25 Maximum allowed) 
 
TRACT SIZE:   12.12 +/- Acres (527,937 square feet) 
 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\SITE PLANS\2018\Fairfield Inn & Self Storage - FKA Farish Enterprises\2 Planning Com Hearing 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Commercial C-2 Aldi’s and Race-Trac Convenience Store 

East (City and 

County) 

City Commercial;  

County Low Medium Density  

Residential 

C-2 and 

R-2 
Single Family Residences;  

Commercial Uses 

South (City and 

County) 

City Medium Density Residential; 

County Low Medium Density 

Residential  

R-2 Single Family Residences 

West (County) County Commercial C-2 Vacant 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY:   Farish Enterprises proposes to replat the McVilla Commerce Park Plat from three 

lots to four lots. Lot 3 of the McVilla Commerce Center Plat will be subdivided into Lots 3A and 3B.  Lot 3B, 

is the proposed location of a hotel and a storage facility.  Lot 3A will function as an outparcel and is situated to 

Semoran Blvd.   A site plan for Lot 3B is included in this Preliminary Development Plan.  At a future date, a 

site plan will be submitted for the vacant outparcel, Lot 3A.  The site plans for the self-storage facility and the 

hotel are designed so that the parcel can be further subdivided into separate lots at some time in the future. 

 

The site plan for Lot 3B includes the hotel and self-storage facility.  A service driveway\road connects McVilla 

Avenue to the western end of Lot 3B and to an outparcel in Lot 3A.  A multi-tenant monument sign will be 

placed in a sign easement at the northeast corner of Lot 3A, and dedicated to the Lot 3B owner.  

 

At four stories, the hotel includes 91-lodging units and an outdoor pool.  At three stories, the 60,732 square feet 

self-storage facility will include outdoor storage for recreational vehicles, trucks and other equipment.  Located 

behind the Aldi Grocery Store and the RaceTrac on East Semoran Boulevard, the hotel and self-storage facility 

have a proposed connection to Semoran from the private driveway, McVilla Avenue. 

 

BUILDING HEIGHT:  Section 2.02.01(A) of the City’s Land Development Code, mandates a maximum 

building height of 35’ for all districts. On December 13, 2016, the Planning Commission approved a special 

exception to allow a maximum building height of fifty-five (55) feet for the hotel. The self-storage facility is in 

accordance with the previously mentioned building height rule of 35’.  The hotel is proposed to have a height of 

53 feet.  

 

PARKING:  The hotel site contains 106 parking spaces of which five are handicapped spaces.   And the self-

storage facility contains 67 parking spaces of which two are handicapped spaces. In total, the applicant proposes 

69 more parking spaces than what is required by the Land Development Code.  The applicant has not declared 

whether joint parking will be allowed between the hotel and self-storage sites, but that capability exists as Lot 

3B will occur under one ownership. 

 
ACCESS/TRANSPORTATION:  Access to the site is via a single full access points on US 441/Semoran 
Boulevard at McVilla Avenue, a signalized intersection. McVilla Avenue dead ends into this project and 
provides access to US 441/Semoran Boulevard for Aldi on the west and RaceTrac on the right. 
 

A. Road Jurisdiction. 
 

1. US 441/Semoran Boulevard – State Road. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 3 

 
 

2. McVilla Avenue – Private. 

 

3. A cross-access easement provides connection between Lot 3A and the Aldi lot, connecting to 

Semoran Blvd.  

 

B. The project is anticipated to generate 71 PM Peak Hour trips. All project generated traffic is anticipated 

to exit the site to US 441/Semoran Boulevard, half heading east and half heading west. Sufficient 

capacity exists to accommodate the addition of trips generated by this project. 

 

C. Road/Intersection Improvements. No roadway or intersection improvements are required. 

 

STORMWATER:  Stormwater run-off and drainage will be accommodated by an on-site retention pond located 

on the south portion of the project site abutting residential uses/districts and surrounded by a 6-foot tall 

aluminum fence.  The on-site stormwater management system is designed according to standards set forth in the 

Land Development Code.   

  

BUFFER/TREE PROGRAM:  The site plan shows that parking lots and buildings are proposed to be lined 

with predominantly Live Oaks and Slash Pines.  Live oaks are shown, in addition to a 6-foot tall masonry, 

concrete or brick wall on the southern boundary and portion of the eastern boundary line abutting residential 

zoning districts. The planting materials are consistent with the standards set forth in Ordinance No. 2069.   

 

SIGNAGE:   Four hundred (400) square feet of area within the proposed outparcel on the northeastern portion 

that abuts Semoran Boulevard is designated as an area for multitenant monument signage.  The Lot 3A outparcel 

will be created by plat at the time of Final Development Plan.  Signage for this development will be permitted 

separately and must comply with Article VIII of the City’s Land Development Code.  

                                  

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

July 10, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

July 18, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm)  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Fairfield Inn and Self-Storage Preliminary 

Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

Recommended Motion:  Find the Fairfield Inn and Self-Storage Preliminary Development Plan consistent with 

the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend approval of Preliminary Development 

Plan Subdivision Plan and Site Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

Planning Commission Role:  The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to advise 

the City Council to approve or deny based on consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 

Code. 

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 4 

 
Project Name: Fairfield Inn & Self-Storage 

Owner:   Farish Enterprises, LLC 

Engineer:  Stuart Anderson, P.E., Interplan 
Parcel I.D. No:    11-21-28-5600-03-000 
Location:  1616 East Semoran Boulevard 

Total Acres:   12.12 +/- Acres 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
FAIRFIELD INN & SELF-STORAGE – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 5 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

Subject Property 

























































 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

 PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: July 10, 2018 

X SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan  Aerial Map 

    Final Development Plan 

    Architectural Elevations 
  
SUBJECT:    FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, 

INC., PHASE 1 

    

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

FOR GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, INC., PHASE 1 LOCATED 

AT 700 VICK ROAD 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:   Center of Faith Church, Inc.   
 
APPLICANT/ENGINEER: Kenneth H. Ehlers, P.E.  
 
LOCATION: 700 Vick Road 

 
PARCEL ID #:  04-21-28-0000-00-027 
 
FLUM DESIG.: Institutional/Public Use   
 
ZONING: PO/I (Professional Office/Institutional District) 
 
EXISTING USE: Church  
 
PROPOSED USE: Church 
 
TRACT SIZE:   3.25 +/- acres  
 
BUILDING SIZE: 10,669 square foot church  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
    

 

 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, PHASE 1 - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant has submitted a Final Development Plan for a 10,669 square 

foot church. The subject property is located at 700 Vick Road, at the northeast corner of the intersection of 

Martin Street and Vick Road, south of Apopka High School. The subject property is approximately 3.25 

acres in size and is zoned PO/I (Professional Office/Institutional District). The Final Development Plan is 

for Phase 1 of the Greater Faith World Center church. Phases II and III appear on the development plan for 

information and planning purposes only, and will require a Final Development Plan approval from the City 

Council at such time each phase moves forward. There is an existing two-story residence on the property 

that will be used as a parsonage.   

     

PARKING:  A total of 106 parking spaces will be provided for the church building. Five parking spaces 

are reserved as a handicapped parking spaces.   

 

ACCESS:  Access to the site is provided via a full access point located on Martin Street which lines up with 

the high school entrance, and a right-in/right-out on Martin Street, approximately 120-feet west of the right-

in/right-out. An additional entrance consisting of a right-in/right-out is proposed on Vick Road.    

 

TRANSPORTATION:  

 

A.  Road Jurisdiction. 

 

1. Martin Street – City of Apopka 

 

2. Vick Road – City of Apopka. 

 

B. A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was not required for this project because it is expected to generate less 

than 400 daily trips. The trip generation is anticipated to generate 97 daily trips and 6 PM Peak Hour 

trips.  

 

C. Road/Intersection Improvements. A signal at the intersection of Vick Road and Martin Street has been 

warranted and will be installed by the City. The Church has conveyed right-of-way to the City along 

Martin Street to accommodate a slight realignment of the intersection at the time of the signal 

installation. 

 

 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  Institutional/Public Use PO/I (Professional 

Office/Institutional District) 

Martin Street/Apopka High 

School  

East  Low Density Residential  R-1A (Residential Single-

Family District)  

Church  

South Medium Density Residential  R-3 (Residential Multiple-

Family District) 

Martin Place subdivision  

West Low Density Residential  PUD (Planned Unit 

Development)  

Vick Road/Parkside at Errol 

Estates, Phase 3 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, PHASE 1 - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 3 

 

ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS: The architectural elevations provided for the church building propose 

a one story building with architectural design elements including a porte-cochere, an architectural grade 

composition asphalt shingle roof, eifs, and stone veneer provided around the perimeter of the building. The 

building exhibits high quality architectural elements that are required in the Development Design 

Guidelines.   

   

STORMWATER:  Stormwater run-off and drainage will be accommodated onsite with a dry stormwater 

retention pond that is located in the southwestern corner of the site along Vick Road.  

 

BUFFER/TREE PROGRAM: The applicant has provided a detailed landscape and irrigation plan that 

complies with the requirements of the City’s Land Development Code. The planting materials and irrigation 

system design are consistent with the water-efficient, Florida-friendly landscape standards set forth in 

Ordinance No. 2069.  

 

In lieu of a masonry or brick wall along the southern property line, a 25-foot wide area of existing trees and 

landscaping will be preserved to provide a buffer for the adjacent residential neighborhood to the south.  A 

standard five-foot wide buffer is provided along the eastern property line. A standard ten-foot wide buffer 

will be provided along Vick Road and Martin Street.   

 

TREES: A tree mitigation payment will be assessed to mitigate existing trees that are proposed to be 

removed.  

 

Total inches on-site: 1,440 

Total inches removed 540 

Total inches retained: 900 

Total inches added: 178 

Total inches post development:                       1,078 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
July 10, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

August 1, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm)  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Greater Faith World Center, Phase 1 

Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

Planning Commission Recommendation:  Find the Greater Faith World Center, Phase 1 Final 

Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan, and recommend 

approval of the Greater Faith World Center, Phase 1 Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this 

staff report. 

 

Planning Commission Role:  The role of the Planning Commission for this development application is to 

advise the City Council to approve, deny, or approve with conditions based on consistency with the 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code. 
 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, PHASE 1 - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 4 

 
Application:  Final Development Plan 

Owner:   Center of Faith, Inc.  

Applicant/Engineer: Kenneth H. Ehlers, P.E. 
Parcel I.D. No:    04-21-28-0000-00-027 
Location:  700 Vick Road  
Acres:  3.25 acres 

 
 
 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 
GREATER FAITH WORLD CENTER, PHASE 1 - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 5 

 
 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

 

































































































 
 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 
 

 PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: July 10, 2018 

X SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Plat  Aerial Map 

    Plat 

    Final Development Plan 

    PUD Master Plan/PDP 

    FDP/Plat Revision 
  
SUBJECT:    PLAT – SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE 

    

REQUEST:  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF THE PLAT FOR SAN SEBASTIAN 

RESERVE 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER(S): A.D Raulerson, Sr. & A.D. Raulerson, Jr.; Curtis and Karen Pumphrey 

APPLICANT: Apopka Development II, LLC, c/o Richard C. Wohlfarth, P.E. 

LOCATION: North of Lester Road and west of Rock Springs Road 

PARCEL NUMBER(S): 28-20-28-0000-00-084; 28-20-28-0000-00-040; 28-20-28-0000-00-077 

EXISTING USE: Vacant 

ZONING DISTRICT: PUD (Planned Unit Development) Zoning District 

MINIMUM LOT WIDTH:      40 feet typical lot width 

MINIMUM LOT SIZE:           4,400 square feet 

TRACT SIZE: 23.14 +/- acres 

PROPOSED  

DEVELOPMENT: 112 Lots, Detached Single-Family Residences; pool facility; dog park 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\SUBDIVISION PLANS\2018\San Sebastian Reserve FDP\3 Planning Com Hearing 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 

SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE – PLAT 
PAGE 2 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) County Low Density 

Residential 

County R-1AA Alexandria Place Residential 

Subdivision 

East (County) County Low Density 

Residential 

County A-1 Vacant\single family homes 

South (County) County Low Medium Density 

Residential 

County MHP Mobile home park (RSPI MHC 

LLC) 

West (City) Residential Low (0-5 

du\ac)and Residential Very 

Low Suburban (0-3.5 un\ac) 

City R-1 (ZIP), R-

1A; County A-1 

City stormwater pond; vacant 

land owned by RSPI MHC LLC 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY:  Planning Commission reviewed and recommended approval of the San 
Sebastian Reserve Preliminary Development Plan PUD Master Plan\PDP on February 13, 2018.  The 
Planning Commission role is to review the Plat for consistency with the PDP/PUD Master Plan, as the 
Planning Commission Chair is required to sign the Plat. 
 
The site comprises 23.2 acres, of which, 4.43 acres will be dedicated for recreation space. Residential lots 
have a minimum lot width of 40 feet and a minimum lot size of 4,400 square feet.  The proposed 
development, San Sebastian Reserve, is a private and gated subdivision of 112 detached, single family 
homes. All infrastructure, bufferyards, and other common areas will be maintained privately and by the 
Homeowners' Association.   
 
The HOA will be responsible for maintaining the landscaping and irrigation within the public right-of-way 
portion of Sebastian Springs Way (Tract RW-1) until the properties on to the north and south side of the 
road develop, at the City may remove the landscaping or the adjacent property owners can agree to maintain. 
 
The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 
 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 

Front* 25’ 

Side 10’ 

Rear 20’ 

Corner 25’ 
*Front-entry garage must be setback a minimum of 25 feet (per PUD design standards). 

 
ACCESS/TRANSPORTATION:  Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via full access 
Lester Road and to Rock Springs Road (via Sebastian Springs Way.) 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The applicant is in the process of obtaining an executed school 
Concurrency Mitigation Agreement (CMA) with Orange County Public Schools (OCPS) to address school 
impacts generated by this residential development.  The plat shall not be recorded and no construction 
activity will occur until after an executed CMA with OCPS has been obtained. 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 

SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE – PLAT 
PAGE 3 
 

CONDITONS OF APPROVAL:    

 

1.) Revise the Final Development Plan and Plat for consistency with the Master Plan\Preliminary 

Development Plan for Lots 101 to 105.  

 

2.) The HOA will be responsible for maintaining the landscaping and irrigation within the public right-

of-way portion of Sebastian Springs Way (Tract RW-1) until the properties on to the north and 

south side of the road develop, at the City may remove the landscaping or the adjacent property 

owners can agree to maintain 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The County was notified at the time of the plat application for 

this property through the DRC agenda distribution. 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
July 10, 2018 - Planning Commission, 5:30 p.m. 
July 18, 2018 - City Council, 7:00 p.m.  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee finds the San Sebastian Reserve – Plat to be consistent with the 
Preliminary Development Plan and Final Development Plan subject to revision to the FDP and Plat to reflect 
consistency with the northeast corner of the Master Plan\PDP -- Lots 101 to 105, and recommends approval 
of San Sebastian Reserve Subdivision – Plat subject to the Conditions of Approval. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed plat consistent with the Land Development Code and PUD 
Master Plan, and recommend approval of the San Sebastian Reserve – Plat, subject to the Conditions of 
Approval. 
 
Planning Commission Role:  Planning Commission may advise the City Council to approve or deny the 
proposed plat for San Sebastian Reserve Plat  based on consistency with the approved San Sebastian 
Reserve PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 
Code and subject to Ord. No. 2634 (aka PUD Ordinance),  

Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

  



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 

SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE – PLAT 
PAGE 4 
 

Project Name:   San Sebastian Reserve – Plat 

Property Owner(s): A. D. Raulerson Sr. A. D. Raulerson, Jr and Curtis & Karen Pumphrey 

Applicant:    Richard Wohlfarth, P.E. c/o WC Group 

Tract Size:  23.14 +/- Acres 

Parcel ID #s:  28-20-28-0000-00-084; 28-20-28-0000-00-040; 28-20-28-0000-00-077 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 
  



PLANNING COMMISSION – JULY 10, 2018 

SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE – PLAT 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

  
























































































































	Top
	1 07-10-18 - PC - Minutes - 06-26-18
	PC 06-26-18 Minutes.docx

	1. 07-10-18 - PC - Public Hearing - PUD Amendment - Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort
	1 KOA PUD AMEND PC 7-10-2018.pdf
	2 Site Plan.pdf
	3 Ord 2345 - Orange Blossom Apopka RV Resort- Zoning -Signed.pdf

	1. 07-10-18 - PC - Site Plan - Preliminary Development Plan - Fairfield Inn/Self-Storage
	1 Fairfield Inn &amp;amp; Self Storage PDP PC 07-10-18.pdf
	2 Fairfield Inn &amp;amp; Self Storage PDP 6-27-18.pdf
	3 Fairfield Inn &amp;amp; Self Storage PDP Elevations.pdf

	2. 07-10-18 - PC - Site Plan - Final Development Plan - Greater Faith World Center, Inc. Ph. 1
	1 Greater Faith PC 07-10-18.pdf
	2 Final Development Plan.pdf
	3 Architectural Elevation.pdf

	3. 07-10-18 - PC - Site Plan - Plat - San Sebastian Reserve
	1 San Sebastian Plat PC 07-10-18.pdf
	2 San Sebastian Plat.pdf
	3 San Sebastian FDP.pdf
	4 San Sebastian Reserve PUD Master Plan and PDP.pdf
	5 San Sebastian FDP PDP Comparison.pdf

	Bottom

